

Comments to Author

Review of the paper “**Effect of SISAHH2 on metabolites between over-expressed and wild-type tomato fruits**”

The paper investigated the effect of SISAHH2 on metabolites between over-expressed tomato and wild-type tomatoes. The paper reported that 733 metabolites were obtained which were divided into 12 categories. The contents of serine, tryptophan, kaempferol, hesperidin and other ripening related substances in overexpressed tomato were higher than those in wild type tomato. According to the results, genetically modified tomatoes may ripen more easily than wild-type tomatoes. The results showed that SISAHH2 had a certain effect on tomato fruit ripening, which provided a certain reference value for the subsequent research on SISAHH2.

The paper is relatively well written, except for some parts (see below) that require clarification. Since I did not receive the manuscript in a line numbering format, I couldn't generate a separate report. Most of my comments/inquiries can be fixed and the authors should have answers to them. Ultimately, the paper meets the requirements of scientific publications in terms of format and objective, so I recommend publishing after some minor amendments

Effect of *SISAHH2* on metabolites between over-expressed and wild-type tomato fruits

Lu Yang^{1*} | Yue Teng¹ | Sijia Bu¹ | Ben Ma¹ | Shijia Guo¹ | Mengxiao Liang² | Lifen Huang³

¹College of Life Sciences, Anhui Normal University, Wuhu, Anhui Province, China

² College of Life Sciences, Nankai University, Tianjin, China

³ Majorbio Bio-Pharm Technology Co. Ltd. (Shanghai, China)

Correspondence *

Lu Yang, College of Life Sciences, Anhui Normal University, Wuhu, Anhui Province, China. Email: yanglu@ahnu.edu.cn

Abstract

Background: Tomato (*Solanum Lycopersicum*) is an annual or perennial herb that occupies an important position in daily agricultural production. Tomato is one of the essential fruits and vegetables for humans, and its ripening process is regulated by a lot of genes. *SAHH*(S-Adenosyl-l-Homocysteine hydrolase, AdoHcyase, EC 3.3.1.1) is widespread in organisms and plays an important role in regulating biological methylation reactions. Previous studies have revealed that transgenic tomato over-expressed of *SISAHH2* ripened earlier as compared with wild-type, while the differences in metabolite and potential metabolomic mechanisms in fruits are not clear.

Objective: To investigate the effect of *SISAHH2* on metabolites between over-expressed tomato and wild-type tomato.

Methods: In this study, *SISAHH2* over-expressed tomato fruits (OE-5# and OE-6#) and wild-type tomato fruits (WT) at breaker stage (Br) were selected for non-targeted metabolome analysis.

Results: All the metabolites identified by mass spectrometry were identified with the KEGG and HMDB database, and 733 metabolites were obtained. According to the superclass results through comparison in HMDB database, metabolites were divided into 12 categories. The differences between the two methods were analyzed by PLS-DA. According to VIP > 1 and P < 0.05, 103 different metabolites have been found between OE-5# and WT; and 63 different metabolites have been found between OE-6# and WT. Through KEGG pathway enrichment analysis of significantly different metabolites, 30 and 32 metabolic pathways were noted in OE-5# vs WT groups and OE-6# vs WT

groups, respectively.

Discussion: The metabolomic mechanism of *SISAHH2* promoting tomato fruit ripening has been further elucidated.

Keywords: Tomato, Metabolite, *SISAHH*, Fruit ripening

1 Introduction

Tomato (*Solanum Lycopersicum* L.) is an annual or perennial herb that occupies an important position in daily agricultural production (Liu et al. 2021). And also one of the most important vegetable crops in China (Su et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2009). Tomato fruits are rich in nutrients such as lycopene, beta carotene, vitamin C, and reduced glutathione (Huang et al. 2006a; Li et al. 2020). It also has some medicinal value where, tomato extracts have anticancer effects and reduces neoangiogenesis in breast tumors (Ma et al. 2009). Tomato is a common model plant for studying fruit ripening (Giovannoni 2004; Inaba 2007; Klee 2004). During fruit development, there are large changes in the levels of primary metabolites, including carbohydrates and acids, while at the onset of ripening, flavonoids and carotenoids begin to accumulate (Muir et al. 2001). Some studies on the interaction of plant hormones (ET and GA) during tomato ripening showed that GA treatment inhibited the metabolite changes during ripening, while ET treatment promoted the metabolite changes (Park & Malka 2022). Knockdown of NAC transcription factors member *SINAC9* affected the metabolism of carotenoids and the ripening of tomato fruits (Feng et al. 2023). The glycine-rich RNA-binding protein RZ1A-Like (RZ1AL) also influenced tomato fruit ripening by participating in the regulation of carotene biosynthesis and metabolism (Li et al. 2022).

S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine hydrolase *SAHH* (S-Adenosyl-L-Homocysteine hydrolase, AdoHcyase, EC 3.3.1.1) is present in a variety of cells and is closely related to DNA methylation, catalyzing the reversible hydrolysis of S-adenosine homocysteine (SAH) into adenosine (Ado) and homocysteine (Hcy) (Turner et al. 2000). In plants, *SAHH* can regulate plant growth and development and pathogen defense. For example, after interfering with *SAHH* gene expression in tobacco and *Arabidopsis thaliana*, plants were dwarfed, leaves were wrinkled and dark green, lateral buds were increased, and aging was delayed (Li et al. 2008; Mull et al. 2006; Rocha et al. 2005; Tanaka et al. 1997). Inhibition of the expression of *SAHH* coding gene *PvSAHH1* in switchgrass resulted in decreased SAH content and lignin accumulation, and increased enzymatic hydrolysis efficiency of cell wall polysaccharides (Bai et al. 2018). In terms of pathogen defense, the expression of *SAHH* was significantly upregulated in *Phytophthora* infestation areas of potato leaves (Arasimowicz-Jelonek et al. 2013). Inhibiting the expression of *SAHH* in tobacco showed less viral replication and stronger viral resistance (Masuta et al. 1995). In tomatoes, simultaneous suppression of the expression of three *SAHH* coding genes by VIGS (viral-induced gene silencing) resulted in severe stunting of plants, drought tolerance and *Pseudomonas syringae* resistance (Pst DC3000) (Li et al. 2015). In addition, recent studies have shown that tomato *SAHH* also plays a role in fruit ripening. Microarray sequencing results showed that the expression of *SSN-U314915* (corresponding to *SlSAHH2*) was significantly higher at the fruit breaker stage than at the mature green stage and sharply decreased with 1-MCP treatment (Yan et al. 2013). Overexpression of *SlSAHH2* in tomatoes promotes ethylene synthesis and accelerates fruit ripening (Yang et al. 2017a).

Although transgenic tomato overexpressed *SAHH2* ripened earlier, the differences in metabolic components during ripening are not clear. Plant metabolomics is the qualitative and

Commented [HM1]: What kind of changes? Increase or decrease?

Commented [HM2]: Better to define in the first mention then adopt the abbreviation

Commented [HM3]: What is this? Again any abbreviation MUST be defined in the first mention, also the structure of the sentences is not correct

Commented [HM4]: Add each citation after its corresponding findings

Commented [HM5]: Better to focus on its role in metabolites accumulation during ripening process

quantitative analysis of all metabolites in plant samples using a variety of highly sensitive instruments and common metabolomics techniques e.g., LC-MS, GC-MS, etc(Chang & Wang 2015). For example, some researchers used HSPME-GC-MS, UHPLC-Q-Exactive HF/MS and HPLC techniques to study the changes of compounds in black tea during the wilting process(Fang et al. 2023). Metabolomics is divided into untargeted metabolomics, targeted metabolomics and broadly targeted metabolomics, in which untargeted metabolomics is a comprehensive, unbiased analysis of metabolites in the organism. Untargeted metabolism refers to metabolomics aimed at integrating biological life processes with end-product outcomes to provide a more complete understanding of the overall mechanism (Guo et al. 2017). As more information becomes available for testing substances, nontargeted metabolomics has a wider coverage (Zhang & Chen 2021). In this study, *SAHH2* over-expressed (*SAHH2*-OE) tomato at breaker stage (Br) (Br is often used as a sign of ripening, Chen 2020) was chosen for untargeted metabolome analysis (LC-MS) to further investigate the mechanism of the effect of *SISAHH2* on tomato fruit metabolites.

Commented [HM6]: Omit!

2 Materials & Methods

2.1 Plant materials and samples

The seeds of the *SISAHH2* over-expressed (OE-5# and OE-6#) and wild-type (WT) were placed in a shaker (220 rpm, 25 °C) until the hypocotyls of the seeds were clearly developed. The seeds were planted in nourishing soil at 25 °C (day/night) and watered regularly. Tomato fruit was collected at breaker stage (Br). Fruits of the same size were taken and immediately frozen with liquid nitrogen and refrigerated at -80°C. Five biological replicates were applied in the experiment.

Commented [HM7]: For how long?

2.2 Sample collection

Each sample weighed of 50 mg was put in a 2 mL centrifuge tube. A total of 400 µL of extraction solution (methanol: water = 4:1) was added into the tube, and the extraction solution contains 0.02 mg/mL of internal standard (L-2-chlorophenyl alanine). Ground samples with a frozen tissue grinder at -10 °C for 6 min (50 Hz). The temperature-controlled ultrasonic cleaner was then used for freezing ultrasound at 5 °C for 30 min (40 kHz). The samples were put at -20°C for 30 min. Centrifuge at 4 °C for 15 min (13,000g). The supernatant was taken for LC-MS analysis.

Commented [HM8]: Structure!!

Commented [HM9]: Put where? Why 20°C for 30 min. if the device works at 5 C

2.3 LC-MS analysis

UHPLC-Q Exactive system and UHPLC tandem Fourier transform mass spectrometry (Thermo Fisher Scientific) were used for determination. Chromatographic condition: the column is ACQUITY UPLC HSS T3 (100 mm × 2.1 mm i.d., 1.8 µm; Waters Milford, USA) ; The mobile phase A was 95% water + 5% acetonitrile (0.1% formic acid); and the mobile phase B was 47.5% acetonitrile + 47.5% isopropanol + 5% water (0.1% formic acid); the flow rate was 0.40 mL/min, the sample size was 2 µL, and the column temperature was 40 °C. The positive and

Commented [HM10]: Again, define abbreviations

negative ion scanning ionization method was used to collect mass spectrum signals respectively. The scan type was 70-1050. The sheath gas flow rate was 40 arb, the auxiliary gas flow rate was 10 arb, the heating temperature was 400 °C, the capillary temperature was 320 °C, the positive spray voltage was 3500 V, and the negative spray voltage was -2800 V. Quality control samples (QC) were prepared by mixing the extracts of all samples in equal volume. The volume of each QC was the same as that of the samples and treated and tested in the same way as the samples which were used for analysis. In the process of instrumental analysis, one QC sample was inserted in every 5-15 analysis sample to investigate the stability of the whole detection process.

2.4 Statistical analysis of data

Through baseline filtering, peak recognition, integration, retention time correction and peak alignment, the raw data were inputted into the metabolomics processing software Progenesis QI (Milford Water, USA), and the resulting data matrix included retention time, mass charge ratio and peak intensity. Then Progenesis QI was used to establish a retrieval library, and the MS and MS/MS mass spectrometry information was matched with the metabolite database. Meanwhile, the mass error of the mass spectrometry was set to be less than 10 ppm, and the metabolite identification was carried out based on the secondary database. The obtained data matrix contained Metabolite, Metab ID, Library ID, KEGG Compound ID, M/Z, Retention time, Mode, Formula, Fragmentation Score, Theoretical Fragmentation Score, Mass Error (ppm), CAS ID, RSD of each metabolite in the sample. Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (PLS-DA) was carried out using unit variance conversion for anionic mode and cationic mode respectively by Par, confidence degree 0.95, conversion times: 200. According to the superclass classification of HMDB (Human Metabolome Database), the total metabolite classification map of tomato fruits was obtained. Functional annotations of metabolic pathways were identified from the KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes) to find pathways corresponding to differential metabolites.

3 Results

3.1 The main metabolites in WT and transgenic tomato fruits

The periods of tomato fruit development and ripening include the immature green stage (IMG), mature green stage (MG), breaker color stage (Br), orange color stage (O), red color stage (R) and overripe stage (OR) are shown in Fig. 1A.. After using tomato fruit at the Br stage for LC-MS, 733 metabolites were obtained from primary and secondary mass spectrometry data (File S1). And 547 metabolites were revealed from the HMDB database for a total of 12 categories (File S2). Among them, lipids and lipid-like molecules (41.13%) account for the largest proportion (File S2, Fig 1B).

The total of 15 samples were divided into three groups, corresponding to WT, OE-5# and OE-6#, and five replicated samples were within 95% confidence circle. Thereby, all the samples were valid, and the three substances were mostly separate from each other (Fig. 1C). The results of PLS-DA analysis showed that the main components of metabolism in WT, OE-5# and OE-6#

lines were different.

3.2 Differentially accumulated primary metabolites in WT and transgenic fruits

PLS-DA Analysis showed that all five replicas of WT and OE-5# were uniformly distributed in 95% of the confidence rings with no abnormal samples, so each group of five replicas was a valid sample (Fig. 2A and 2B). The Permutation test of PLS-DA showed that PLS-DA analysis was valid. PLS-DA analysis showed that all five replicas of WT and OE-6# were uniformly distributed in 95% of the confidence rings with no abnormal samples, so each group of five replicas was a valid sample (Fig. 2C and 2D). The Permutation test of PLS-DA revealed the viability of PLS-DA analysis. The distance between the experimental and control group indicates differences in metabolites between the two groups.

Figure 2 PLS-DA analysis of metabolites identified of *SISAHH2* overexpressed tomato and wild-type tomato. (A) Metabolites identified in OE-5# and WT via PLS-DA analysis. (B) The corresponding Permutation test of PLS-DA: $R^2 = (0, 0.9948)$, $Q^2 = (0, 0.079)$. (C) Metabolites identified in OE-6# and WT via PLS-DA analysis. (D) The corresponding Permutation test of PLS-DA: $R^2 = (0, 0.9647)$, $Q^2 = (0, 0.0617)$

Commented [HM11]: Then where is the legend of figure 1?

3.3 Map of the volcano for *SISAHH2* over-expressed tomato and wild-type tomato

It was confirmed that the variation trends of differential metabolites of OE-5# vs WT and OE-6# vs WT were not identical. There were 103 different metabolites in OE-5# and WT, among which 58 red marked metabolites were up-regulated e.g. dehydrotomatine, L-serine, hesperetin and 45 blue marker metabolites were down-regulated (Fig. 3A and File S3). According to the screening conditions of $VIP > 1$ and $P < 0.05$, 85 out of 103 above mentioned metabolites in OE-5# vs WT group could be classified in the HMDB database (File S4).. Similarly, there were 63 different metabolites in OE-6# and WT, among which 58 red marked metabolites were up-regulated e.g. L-Tryptophan, 1,3-Dicaffeoylquinic acid, Kaempferol, Gallic acid and 5 blue marked metabolites were down-regulated (Fig. 3B and File S5). According to the screening conditions of $VIP > 1$ and $P < 0.05$, 43 out of the 63 different metabolites between OE-6# and WT, could be classified in the HMDB database (File S6).

Commented [HM12]: Need example, otherwise omit the examples of up-regulated metabolites

Commented [HM13]: I guess this is an output of GraphPad prism software which you did not mention in the statistical analysis section

Commented [HM14]: Example?

3.4 Bubble diagrams revealed different metabolites in *SISAHH2* over-expressed and WT fruits

Through KEGG pathway enrichment analysis of significantly different metabolites, 30 metabolic pathways were noted in OE-5# and WT groups (File S7), including 12 significant metabolic pathways ($P < 0.05$), namely glycine, serine, and threonine metabolism, ABC transporters, purine metabolism, aminoacyl-tRNA biosynthesis, pyrimidine metabolism, caffeine metabolism, valine, leucine and isoleucine biosynthesis, tryptophan metabolism, monobactam biosynthesis, glycerol phospholipid metabolism, phenylpropanoid biosynthesis, tyrosine metabolism (Fig. 4A). Among them, glycine, serine and threonine metabolism, ABC transporters, purine metabolism, aminoacyl tRNA biosynthesis, pyrimidine metabolism, caffeine metabolism, valine, leucine and isoleucine biosynthesis, and tryptophan metabolism were included in the most significant metabolic pathways ($P < 0.01$) which had eight pathways (File S7). Through KEGG Pathway enrichment and analysis of significantly different metabolites, 32 metabolic pathways were noted in OE-6# and WT groups (File S8), and there were six significant metabolic pathways ($P < 0.05$), namely aminoacyl-tRNA biosynthesis, purine metabolism, pyrimidine metabolism, ABC transporters, beta-Alanine metabolism, Tropane, piperidine and pyridine alkaloid synthesis (Fig. 4B). Among them, aminoacyl tRNA biosynthesis, purine metabolism, pyrimidine metabolism and ABC transporters were included in the most significant metabolic pathways ($P < 0.01$) which had four pathways (File S8).

Commented [HM15]: Define

Commented [HM16]: Could omit since 2/3 of them are mentioned the next sentence

Commented [HM17]: Same as above

4 Discussion

Metabolomics is currently a broad, sensitive and practical approach. The analysis of plant phenotypes by differential metabolites is a good method (Patel et al. 2021). Kissoudis et al. studied the changes of metabolites of GSTs overexpressed tobacco plants under salinity stress. Protective metabolites such as proline and trehalosaccharide of transgenic plants had higher concentrations under salt stress, and the results showed that GmGSTU4 contributed to salt stress tolerance (Kissoudis et al. 2015). In this study, different metabolites in overexpressed SAHH and wild-type tomato were compared to explore the early ripening mechanism of overexpressed tomato. The metabolites of transgenic and wild type were screened by LC-MS non-targeted liquid chromatography metabolomics. According to the comparison of the superclass results of HMDB (Human Metabolome Database), metabolites were divided into 12 classes. PLS-DA and other methods were used to analyze the differences between transgenic and wild type tomato. The upregulated metabolites between OE-5# and WT were mainly dehydrotomatine and L-serine. Interestingly, dehydrotomatine and L-serine were proved to play a role in tomato fruit development or ripening. In detail, dehydrotomatine accumulates in tomato leaves, flowers and ripe green fruits, and has a defense effect against bacteria, fungi and insects (Lee et al. 2019). Serine was increased during fruit ripening due to glycolysis (Lee et al. 2010). The upregulated metabolites between OE-6# and WT were mainly L-Tryptophan, 1,3-Dicaffeoylquinic acid, Kaempferol, Gallic acid. Their role has been reported in several species. For example, tryptophan and glycerol levels increased in ripened ginseng berries (GB) and (Park et al. 2019). During grape berry development, veraison and kaempferol revealed the highest content at ripening phase (Fang et al. 2013). During the ripening of mulberries, gallic acid increased from pink to red

Commented [HM18]: Elaborate/ justify

Commented [HM19]: Define!!

Commented [HM20]: Relevant to your study?

(Saracoglu 2018).

According to the cysteine and methionine metabolism pathway, S-adenosyl homocysteine (SAH) is hydrolyzed by adenosyl homocysteinase (SAHH) to generate homocysteine (Hcy), so the Hcy in *SAHH2* over-expressed tomato is inferred up-regulated. Generally, L-serine and Hcy can produce L-cystathionine through cystathionine β -synthase (Xu et al. 2017). The abundance of L-serine in OE-5# and OE-6# was up-regulated compared with the wild type (Fig 5), so it was speculated that L-cystathionine was also up-regulated. At the same time, under the action of γ -lyase, L-cystathionine can produce L-Homocysteine, so it is speculated that the abundance of L-homocysteine in transgenic fruit may be up-regulated compared with the wild type. Similarly, as L-methionine could be produced from L-homocysteine through methionine synthase, it is speculated that L-methionine in transgenic fruits may increase (Shen 2019). Combined with the trans-methylation pathway of methionine, S-adenosyl-L-methionine could be produced from L-methionine through methionine adenosine transferase. S-adenosyl-L-methionine can accelerate production of 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid and S-methyl-5'-thioadenosine through S-adenosine-L-methionine methionine adenosine lyase (Avila et al. 2004; Tang et al. 2008).

The content of terminal chemical compound (Hesperetin, Kaempferol, S-Methyl-5-thioadenosine) were all higher in transgenic tomato fruits than that in WT fruits (Fig 5). ACC is the precursor of ethylene synthesis, the up-regulation of ACC can reflect the increase of ethylene in fruit (Mou et al. 2020; Xie et al. 2009). At the same time, ethylene promotes flavonoid synthesis (Ni et al. 2020). Combined with the increase content of S-adenosyl-L-methionine we just inferred and the reported high ethylene level in transgenic fruit (Yang et al. 2017b), the metabolic mechanism of *SISAHH2* promoting fruit ripening can be further clarified.

5 Conclusions

In this study, LC-MS non-targeted liquid chromatography metabolomics was used to screen metabolites of transgenic and wild type. PLS-DA was used to analyze whether there was any difference. The results showed a difference between 5OE, 6OE and WT. Then, corresponding screening was conducted and metabolites were labeled through databases (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes and Human Metabolome database) to obtain the total metabolite classification map of tomato. The contents of serine, tryptophan, kaempferol, hesperidin and other ripening related substances in overexpressed tomato were higher than those in wild type tomato. According to the results, genetically modified tomatoes may ripen more easily than wild-type tomatoes. The results showed that *SISAHH2* had a certain effect on tomato fruit ripening, which provided a certain reference value for the subsequent research on *SISAHH2*.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Tong Zhou (Shandong University) for his technical support.

DECLARATION OF COMPETING INTEREST

Commented [HM21]: Should go after its abbreviation above

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this article

References

- Arasimowicz-Jelonek M, Floryszak-Wieczorek J, Gzyl J, and Chmielowska-Bak J. 2013. Homocysteine over-accumulation as the effect of potato leaves exposure to biotic stress. *Plant Physiol Biochem* 63:177-184. 10.1016/j.plaphy.2012.11.025
- Avila MA, Garcia-Trevijano ER, Lu SC, Corrales FJ, and Mato JM. 2004. Methylthioadenosine. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 36:2125-2130. 10.1016/j.biocel.2003.11.016
- Bai Z, Qi T, Liu Y, Wu Z, Ma L, Liu W, Cao Y, Bao Y, and Fu C. 2018. Alteration of S-adenosylhomocysteine levels affects lignin biosynthesis in switchgrass. *Plant Biotechnol J* 16:2016-2026. 10.1111/pbi.12935
- Chen Q, Liu S, Zhang Z, Cui H, and Liu Z. 2009. Effect of different light emitting diode sources on tomato fruit quality during color-changed period. *Transactions of the Chinese Society of Agricultural Engineering* 25:156-161.
- Chang YW, and Wang GD. 2015. Application of LC-MS in plant metabolomics analysis. *Chinese Bulletin of Life Sciences*. 27(08): 978-985. 10.13376/j.cbls/2015136
- Chen M. 2020. Based on lycopene metabolism pathway to study on the cause of tomato fruit color change. *Hunan Agricultural University*.
- Fang F, Tang K, and Huang W-D. 2013. Changes of flavonol synthase and flavonol contents during grape berry development. *European Food Research and Technology* 237.
- Fang X, Liu Y, Xiao J, Ma C, and Huang Y. 2023. GC-MS and LC-MS/MS metabolomics revealed dynamic changes of volatile and non-volatile compounds during withering process of black tea. *Food Chem* 410:135396. 10.1016/j.foodchem.2023.135396
- Feng Y, Kou X, Yuan S, Wu C, Zhao X, Xue Z, Li Q, Huang Z, and Sun Y. 2023. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated SNAC9 mutants reveal the positive regulation of tomato ripening by SNAC9 and the mechanism of carotenoid metabolism regulation. *Hortic Res* 10:uhad019. 10.1093/hr/uhad019
- Giovannoni JJ. 2004. Genetic regulation of fruit development and ripening. *Plant Cell* 16 Suppl:S170-180. 10.1105/tpc.019158
- Guo DF, Wang XJ, Hou L, Zhao SZ, Li GH, and Xia H. 2017. Research Progress of Metabolomics in Plants. *Shandong Agricultural Sciences* 49(12): 154-162. 10.14083/j.issn.1001-4942.2017.12.035
- Huang Y, Shen XN, Liu YN, and Yao GY. 2006. The Preventive Effect of Lycopene On Hyperglycemia In Alloxan-Induced Diabetic Rats And Its Mechanism. *Ying Yang Xue Bao* (03): 244-246+251.
- Inaba A. 2007. Studies on the Internal Feedback Regulation of Ethylene Biosynthesis and Signal Transduction during Fruit Ripening, and the Improvement of Fruit Quality. *Journal of The Japanese Society for Horticultural Science* 76:1-12. org/10.2503/jjshs.76.1
- Kissoudis, Christos, Kalloniati, Chrissanthi, Flemetakis, Emmanouil, Madesis, Panagiotis, Labrou, E. N, Tsaftaris, Athanasios, Nianiou-Obeidat, and Irini. 2015. Stress-inducible GmGSTU4 shapes transgenic tobacco plants metabolome towards increased salinity tolerance. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum* 37.
- Klee HJ. 2004. Ethylene signal transduction. Moving beyond Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol* 135:660-667. 10.1104/pp.104.040998
- Lee HJ, Nakayasu M, Akiyama R, Kobayashi M, Miyachi H, Sugimoto Y, Umemoto N, Saito K, Muranaka T, and Mizutani M. 2019. Identification of a 3 β -Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenase/ 3-Ketosteroid Reductase Involved in α -Tomatine Biosynthesis in Tomato. *Plant Cell Physiol* 60:1304-1315. 10.1093/pcp/pcz049
- Lee S, Choi HK, Cho SK, and Kim YS. 2010. Metabolic analysis of guava (*Psidium guajava* L.) fruits at different ripening stages using different data-processing approaches. *J*

Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 878:2983-2988.
10.1016/j.jchromb.2010.09.003

- Li CH, Yu N, Jiang SM, Shangguan XX, Wang LJ, and Chen XY. 2008. Down-regulation of S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine hydrolase reveals a role of cytokinin in promoting transmethylation reactions. *Planta* 228:125-136. 10.1007/s00425-008-0724-2
- Li X, Huang L, Hong Y, Zhang Y, Liu S, Li D, Zhang H, and Song F. 2015. Co-silencing of tomato S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase genes confers increased immunity against *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato DC3000 and enhanced tolerance to drought stress. *Front Plant Sci* 6:717. 10.3389/fpls.2015.00717
- Li X, Yang Y, Zeng N, Qu G, Fu D, Zhu B, Luo Y, Ostersetzter-Biran O, and Zhu H. 2022. Glycine-rich RNA-binding cofactor RZ1AL is associated with tomato ripening and development. *Hortic Res* 9:uhac134. 10.1093/hr/uhac134
- Li H, Wang YS, Yu J, Lin YQ, Lu BY, Lu HY, Ye HX, and Shi XR. 2020. Determination of nutrient content in several tomato varieties. *Journal of Zhe Jiang Agricultural Sciences* 61(11): 2366-2370. 10.16178/j.issn.0528-9017.20201153
- Liu CY, Li XY, Tian SR, Wang J, Pei YH, Ma XZ, Fan GJ, Wang DB, and Sun XC. 2021. Cloning, Expression and Anti-Virus Function Analysis of *Solanum lycopersicum* SIN-like. *Scientia Agricultura Sinica* 54(20): 4348-4357.
- Masuta C, Tanaka H, Uehara K, Kuwata S, Koizumi A, and Noma M. 1995. Broad resistance to plant viruses in transgenic plants conferred by antisense inhibition of a host gene essential in S-adenosylmethionine-dependent transmethylation reactions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92:6117-6121. 10.1073/pnas.92.13.6117
- Ma WJ, Kang XM, and Zhang QY. 2009. Experimental study on inhibiting the growth of breast cancer by tomato extract. *Journal of Harbin Medical University* 43(05): 441-442+447.
- Mou W, Kao YT, Michard E, Simon AA, Li D, Wudick MM, Lizzio MA, Feijó JA, and Chang C. 2020. Ethylene-independent signaling by the ethylene precursor ACC in *Arabidopsis* ovular pollen tube attraction. *Nat Commun* 11:4082. 10.1038/s41467-020-17819-9
- Muir SR, Collins GJ, Robinson S, Hughes S, Bovy A, Ric De Vos CH, van Tunen AJ, and Verhoeven ME. 2001. Overexpression of petunia chalcone isomerase in tomato results in fruit containing increased levels of flavonols. *Nat Biotechnol* 19:470-474. 10.1038/88150
- Mull L, Ebbs ML, and Bender J. 2006. A histone methylation-dependent DNA methylation pathway is uniquely impaired by deficiency in *Arabidopsis* S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase. *Genetics* 174:1161-1171. 10.1534/genetics.106.063974
- Ni J, Zhao Y, Tao R, Yin L, Gao L, Strid Å, Qian M, Li J, Li Y, Shen J, Teng Y, and Bai S. 2020. Ethylene mediates the branching of the jasmonate-induced flavonoid biosynthesis pathway by suppressing anthocyanin biosynthesis in red Chinese pear fruits. *Plant Biotechnol J* 18:1223-1240. 10.1111/pbi.13287
- Park MH, and Malka SK. 2022. Gibberellin delays metabolic shift during tomato ripening by inducing auxin signaling. *Front Plant Sci* 13:1045761. 10.3389/fpls.2022.1045761
- Park SE, Seo SH, Kim EJ, Park DH, Park KM, Cho SS, and Son HS. 2019. Metabolomic Approach for Discrimination of Cultivation Age and Ripening Stage in Ginseng Berry Using Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry. *Molecules* 24. 10.3390/molecules24213837
- Patel MK, Pandey S, Kumar M, Haque MI, Pal S, and Yadav NS. 2021. Plants Metabolome Study: Emerging Tools and Techniques. *Plants (Basel)* 10. 10.3390/plants10112409
- Rocha PS, Sheikh M, Melchiorre R, Fagard M, Boutet S, Loach R, Moffatt B, Wagner C, Vaucheret H, and Furrer I. 2005. The *Arabidopsis* HOMOLOGUE-DEPENDENT

- GENE SILENCING1 gene codes for an S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine hydrolase required for DNA methylation-dependent gene silencing. *Plant Cell* 17:404-417. 10.1105/tpc.104.028332
- Saracoglu O. 2018. Phytochemical accumulation of anthocyanin rich mulberry (*Morus laevigata*) during ripening. *Journal of Food Measurement and Characterization* 12.
- Shen W. 2019. The expression of homocysteine-methionine cycle metabolism gene and its possible regulatory mechanism under physiological and pathological conditions were analyzed by bioinformatics. *Nanchang University*.
- Su CJ, Ji YZ, Wu X, Fan BW, Song YN, and Yang FJ. 2021. Research Status on the Influence of High-Temperature Stress on the Photosynthetic System of Tomato and Mitigating Mechanism. *Journal of Heilongjiang Bayi Agricultural University* 33(03): 13-20.
- Tanaka H, Masuta C, Uehara K, Kataoka J, Koiwai A, and Noma M. 1997. Morphological changes and hypomethylation of DNA in transgenic tobacco expressing antisense RNA of the S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine hydrolase gene. *Plant Mol Biol* 35:981-986. 10.1023/a:1005896711321
- Tang X, Chang L, Wu S, Li P, Liu G, and Wang NN. 2008. Auto-regulation of the promoter activities of Arabidopsis 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate synthase genes AtACS4, AtACS5, and AtACS7 in response to different plant hormones. *Plant Science* 175:161-167.
- Turner MA, Yang X, Yin D, Kuczera K, Borchardt RT, and Howell PL. 2000. Structure and function of S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase. *Cell Biochem Biophys* 33:101-125. 10.1385/cbb:33:2:101
- Xie L, Ying Y, and Ying T. 2009. Rapid determination of ethylene content in tomatoes using visible and short-wave near-infrared spectroscopy and wavelength selection. *Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems* 97:141-145. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemolab.2009.03.005>
- Xu QY, Hu LY, and Wang MZ. 2017. Metabolic pathway and turnover mechanism of methionine in animals. *Chinese Journal of Animal Nutrition* 29(11): 3877-3884.
- Yan R, Yokotani N, Yamaoka T, Ushijima K, Nakano RT, Yano K, Aoki K, and Kubo Y. 2013. Characterization of ripening-associated genes using a tomato DNA microarray, 1-methylcyclopropane, and ripening-impaired mutants. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 86:159-170. [org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2013.06.028](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2013.06.028)
- Yang L, Hu G, Li N, Habib S, Huang W, and Li Z. 2017a. Functional Characterization of SISAHH2 in Tomato Fruit Ripening. *Front Plant Sci* 8: 1312. 10.3389/fpls.2017.01312
- Yang L, Hu G, Li N, Habib S, Huang W, and Li Z. 2017b. Functional Characterization of SISAHH2 in Tomato Fruit Ripening. *Front Plant Sci* 8:1312. 10.3389/fpls.2017.01312
- Zang F, and Chen W. 2021. Research Progress of Metabolomics in Plant Stress Biology. *Biotechnology Bulletin* 37(08): 1-11. 10.13560/j.cnki.biotech.bull.1985.2021-0861

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

